
The story of this park is one about neighbors stepping up to the plate  
to make their community a better place and to create something of value  
for generations to come.

This had been the site of the brick Franklin Elementary School, built in  
1904 and demolished in 1972, which served the York and Sehome  
neighborhoods.  In 1977, some of those residents attended public hearings  
of the Mayor’s Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee and  
Parks Bond issue meetings to speak in favor of making the  
former school site a park, and the City acquired the property  
from the school district and Franklin Park became a reality.

For the next 13 years the new park was in use,  
but by 1990 it was time to do something about  

the old school’s playground equipment still in use.   
A Neighborhood Improvement Program grant was  
awarded in 1991, providing $8,000+ to purchase new 
playground equipment and pay for other improvements.   

The neighborhood subsequently raised $2,500 in funds, 
volunteer labor, and materials…and, in the years since, the 

activity of local volunteers around the park has contributed to its upkeep.   
In 2006, the City awarded the neighborhood association a Neighborhood  
Initiative Program grant of $150,000 which funded a redesign and major upgrade of 
the park and its amenities…including evaluation of local playground equipment by 
kindergartners from the nearby Loving Space School on Ellis Street.

In August 2017, the park was officially renamed to honor  
Harriet Spanel, a Washington State Senator (1993–2009)  

and Legislator (1987–1993) for our legislative district,  
who had led that effort back in 1977  
to create this park on the site  
of the former school.

York Neighborhood Association

Neighbors transformed this place’s historyNeighbors transformed this place’s history

Special thanks to Jeff Jewell and the Photo Archives of the Whatcom Museum

This sign was created by the York Neighborhood Association 
thanks to a City of Bellingham “Small and Simple” Grant.
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Sehome Mine (coal) opens

Oldest house in York built (1318 Humboldt)
York born as the York Addition to New Whatcom

The York Addition Meat Market  
(now Nelson’s Market) established

Building boom; many of the  
historic buildings in York built

Franklin Elementary School built

Harriet Spanel born

Franklin Elementary School demolished
The York Neighborhood Organization is formed by local volunteers
City acquires Franklin School property and creates Franklin Park

Grant from City for park improvements

City grant-funded Franklin Park Renovation Project adds 
shelter, trails, benches, basketball court

Jeff Reed memorial bench and skateboard jump installed
Parts of the York neighborhood receive  

National Register of Historic Places designation

Harriet Spanel dies
Franklin Park renamed as Harriet Spanel Park

Sehome Mine closes

Seattle founded
Whatcom Mill established on Bellingham Bay
Washington Territory established 
Whatcom County created 
Town of Whatcom (now downtown Bellingham) 

established; town of Sehome founded

Town of Fairhaven founded by “Dirty Dan” Harris
Sehome renamed as New Whatcom
New Whatcom renamed back to Sehome

Towns of Whatcom and Sehome merge, 
becoming City of New Whatcom

Fairhaven and Whatcom merge to become the 
City of Bellingham

City of New Whatcom renamed as Whatcom

Georgia-Pacific begins operations in Bellingham

Bellingham section of Interstate 5 opens

Georgia-Pacific mill closes

American Civil War

Washington becomes the  
42nd state of the Union

World War I

The Great Depression

World War II

Korean War

Vietnam War

Franklin School, shown here in the 1950s, stood on this site for 68 years.

Franklin School class photo, c. 1907

Conceptual plan for Franklin Park, late 1970s



Many houses in this quiet residential neighborhood were built in the  

decade of 1895–1905, but its oldest house dates from 1885 and is  

just across the alley from where you’re reading this, at 1318 Humboldt 

Street.  The area was originally platted as the York Addition to the  

little town of New Whatcom in the late 1880s.  The York Addition  

Meat Market (today Nelson’s Market), near here at Potter and Humboldt 

streets, was established in 1895.

In 1960 the neighborhood was sundered by the arrival of Interstate 5,  

which is now this park’s eastern edge, and was split into the neighborhoods 

of York and Puget.  In the late 1970s this open-space parcel of four-plus 

lots was slated to become a large apartment complex, but, 

at the urging of neighbors, the City purchased the land for 

$35,000 in federal block-grant funds.  The recently formed 

York Neighborhood Organization took over maintenance of 

the area, and thus Rock Hill Park was born…at first as just 

open space but then as a formal city park in 1997.

Over those first 20 years, York volunteers oversaw many 

projects:  regrading and seeding the upper open-space area, 

clearing out brambles and blackberries, and creating 

access to the large sandstone rock for climbing and as 

a good spot for viewing Mount Baker.  They also  

built the staircase to connect to the lower level and 

installed the basketball court and the perennial-

garden berm along the alley with flowering plants 

for a butterfly habitat.  In 2005 Boy Scout Troop #19 

installed the stone wall encircling the butterfly garden.  

Many of these projects were funded by the City’s “Small and Simple” Grant 

awards from the Mayor’s Office…as were this sign and the kiosk hosting it. 

Neighbors continue to help maintain the park and keep it active, lively, and 

safe, also participating in the creation of its new playgrounds in 2024–26.

This sign was created by the York Neighborhood Association 
thanks to a City of Bellingham “Small and Simple” Grant.

Special thanks to Jeff Jewell and the Photo Archives of the Whatcom Museum
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York Neighborhood Association

Bellingham section of Interstate 5 opens

The York Neighborhood Organization is formed and takes action to prevent a 
13-unit apartment complex from being built on four lots at Rock Hill in the 
hopes that a park can be created

Open-space parcel of four-plus lots is purchased by the City for  
future use as a park at the urging of the York Neighborhood Organization, 
which takes on its maintenance through volunteers

The York Neighborhood Organization becomes known as the  
York Neighborhood Association

Early Rock Hill Park plan shown at left published in the local Yorker newsletter
Basketball court installed
Staircase built by volunteers

New basketball hoop installed and court improved

Rock Hill Park dedication—October 1997

Butterfly Garden created by the local garden club thanks to a City  
“Small and Simple” grant

I-5 sound wall built

City purchases the Sledding Hill lot for the park

Parts of the York neighborhood receive National Register of Historic Places 
designation

Bench installed at the basketball court, in memory of Park Steward George 
Leipart’s wife, Helen, who grew up playing at this park

Lamppost installed

The Rock Hill Park Refresh project brings a new playground and other 
improvements to the park

1960

1970

1980

1990

2000

2010

2020

2030

Volunteers spread dirt for the  
butterfly/perennial garden bed in 1997.

This abandoned house sat next to the park for many years until finally,  
following a suspicious fire, the owner was required to demolish it.   
In 2008 the City purchased the lot and added it to the park.

Volunteers mark the end of a fun park-cleanup work party, January 2025


